#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## CASE NO.: SCO2-502

## KENNETH FRIEDMAN, M.D., Petitioner,

v.

# HEART INSTITUTE OF PORT ST. LUCIE, INC., a Florida corporation; RAYTEL MEDICAL CORP., a Delaware corporation, and DAVID WERTHEIMER,

Respondents.

On Review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal CASE NO.: 4D01-3526

## **PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF**

DAVID B.B. HELFREY, ESQ., HELFREY, SIMON & JONES, PC. 120 South Central Avenue Suite 1500 St. Louis, Missouri 63105 Telephone: 314 725 9100 Facsimile: 314 725 5754 ROBERT W. WILKINS, ESQ. BERROCAL AND WILKINS 801 Maplewood Drive, Suite 22-A Jupiter, FL. 33458 Florida Bar No. 578721 Telephone 561-746-7455 Facsimile 561-746-6933

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This case is one of first impression for this Court, addressing how a trial court should proceed on a motion to stay the proceedings of a contingent Florida Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ("FUFTA") claim (involving invasive discovery directed towards third parties), pending resolution of an underlying earlier-filed dispositive contract claim. There is a split among the lower courts on this matter.

Christie LeMieux is a non-party to the underlying contract litigation described below. Respondent has not alleged that she has had any contractual, financial, business or other relationship with the Respondent/Plaintiff Heart Institute of Port St. Lucie, Inc. ("HIPSL") or otherwise has any role in that contract litigation. HIPSL only alleges that Christie Lemieux is the transferee of an alleged fraudulent transfer of cash.

For fifteen years, Petitioner/Defendant Kenneth Friedman, M.D. had been a cardiologist physician serving patients who depended on his personal professional services at the outpatient clinic of HIPSL, since the clinic's founding in 1984, earning at times in excess of \$300,000 per year. (RA-Exh A (employment agreement at page 3), PA-Tab 3, and PSA-Exh B) <sup>1</sup> At the time HIPSL began its lawsuit below, HIPSL

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the time this brief is being served, the District Court has not prepared the record or an index to the record. Citations herein are to the respective appendices

was owned by Raytel Medical Corporation, and David Wertheimer, MD, was the President of HIPSL. (RA-Exh A)

With no prior notice, HIPSL informed Petitioner Friedman on October 11, 1999 that he was to be terminated without cause, involuntarily by HIPSL, but would remain an employee through January 11, 2000 and would receive his full benefits, including salary, through that date. (RA-Exh A)

On or about October 18, 1999, HIPSL filed a breach of contract lawsuit against Petitioner, based in large part upon an alleged breach by Petitioner of a 1996 (amended in 1997) employment agreement's covenant not to compete against HIPSL (hereinafter, the contract dispute case shall be referred to as "*HIPSL-CONTRACT*"). (RA-Exh A) The *HIPSL-CONTRACT* complaint also alleged that the covenant restricts Petitioner's right to serve any patients within a 50-mile radius for a restrictive term of two (2) years. The *HIPSL-CONTRACT* complaint also alleged that the last date of employment was to be January 11, 2000, which had not occurred at the time the complaint was filed. Petitioner answered the complaint and set forth counterclaims and affirmative defenses.

HIPSL filed a Motion for Temporary Injunction against Petitioner to prevent him

filed in the District Court. Petitioner's Appendix is cited as "PA." Respondent's Appendix is cited as "RA."Petitioner's Supplemental Appendix is cited as "PSA".

from seeing his patients. (PA-Tab 3) A hearing on the injunctive relief was held on November 4, 1999. In an order dated December 6, 1999, the trial judge denied the injunctive relief finding, among other things, that "the right of an individual patient for continued medial care and treatment by the physician of his or her choice is an important public policy consideration that outweighs Plaintiff's need for temporary injunctive relief." (PA-Tab 3) As of the current time, the <u>HIPSL-CONTRACT</u> dispute remains pending.

On November 16, 1999, counsel for HIPSL informed Petitioner that HIPSL would use self-help and withhold all remaining salary owed to "offset against damages incurred by Heart and Family Institute...there will be no funds paid...until this litigation is resolved." (PSA-Exh A)

Despite HIPSL having withheld extensive amounts already owed to Petitioner to offset any alleged potential damages in <u>HIPSL-CONTRACT</u>, on or about April 30 2001, one and a half years after filing the <u>HIPSL-CONTRACT</u> case, HIPSL filed a Florida Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ('FUFTA"; Fla. Stat. §726.101, et. seq.) claim (this cause of action shall hereinafter be referred to as "<u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u>"). In the <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u> claim, HIPSL proclaimed itself a future potential creditor of Petitioner based solely on the allegations of the <u>HIPSL-CONTRACT</u> claim, and did so in the form of a Count IV amendment to its original complaint. (PA-Tab 6) The amended complaint also added non-party Christie LeMieux, as a co-defendant solely as part of the FUFTA claim. The <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u> claim alleged that Ms. LeMieux received fraudulently transferred cash proceeds in September 1999 from the sale of Petitioner's house. The <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u> action also targeted Petitioner for the transfer of those proceeds. Petitioner and LeMieux denied the claims, setting forth affirmative and other defenses. The <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u> action sought relief against thirdparty LeMieux, including:

- a)"appointment of a receiver to take charge of LeMieux's assets and bank accounts, freezing her assets and permitting her to withdraw reasonable living expenses during the pendency of this action;"
- b)"injunction against any transfer of the subject funds by LeMieux to any third parties;"
- c)"attachment of LeMieux's assets in an amount sufficient to secure payment of \$422,171.13."<sup>2</sup>

(PA-Tab 6, page 3)

After filing <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u>, HIPSL sought to focus significant litigation resources prosecuting that FUFTA claim. With the relevance of the information sought based solely on the <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u> claim, HIPSL served on LeMieux and Petitioner, extensive discovery requests that sought personal financial and private

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The \$422,171.13 is easily calculated, based on these facts in the record before this court, to be significantly in excess a the total net estimated amount (after accounting for withheld salaries and amounts owed Petitioner) alleged to be owed by Petitioner to HIPSL.

information from third party LeMieux and Petitioner Friedman, including information that is protected by Florida's constitutional right to privacy. Article I, §23, Fla. Const. ( PA-Exh 8) Since filing the <u>*HIPSL-FUFTA*</u> action, Respondents HIPSL and Wertheimer have focused their litigation efforts on its prosecution, while the <u>*HIPSL-*</u> <u>*CONTRACT*</u> dispute continues to remain pending since 1999.

Based on the only Florida appellate case addressing the matter, *Rosen v. Zoberg*, 680 So.2d 1050 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), Friedman and LeMieux moved on June 7, 2001 to stay <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u> proceedings pending the outcome of the resolution of the earlier-filed dispositive breach of contract <u>HIPSL-CONTRACT</u> claims. Petitioner relied upon the holding in *Rosen* that it would be a waste of judicial resources to allow the FUFTA claim to proceed until the underlying dispositive contract claim is first resolved. Petitioner also raised concerns about the irreparable harm that would be caused by discovery of constitutionally protected personal financial information of third party LeMieux and Defendant Friedman and the harassing nature of the <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u> case. (RA-Exh E, pages 7-8 and 17) On August 6, 2001, the trial court admitted an inability to understand the "waste of judicial resources" reasoning of the *Rosen* case,<sup>3</sup> ignored the effects on the rights to protect

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The Circuit Court judge admitted: "So, I don't understand their understanding of judicial resources in the statement they made in *Rosen*." (RA-Exh E at 18, lines 2-5)

private financial information of LeMieux and Friedman, and denied Petitioners' motion for stay. Despite denying Petitioner's motion, the lower court appeared to have expressed skepticism of the FUFTA claims of <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u> and that awarding attorney's fees would be enough to compensate Petitioner for any harm incurred: "Keep track of everything you spend on this issue, and they [HIPSL and Wertheimer] may be paying some freight on it if it turns out to be a frivolous issue in this case." (RA-Exh E, page 19, lines 19-22)

Petitioner filed a petition for certiorari to the Fourth District Court of Appeals. On September 28, 2001, the Fourth DCA entered an Order to Show Cause directing Respondents to show cause why the petition should not be granted. At Petitioner's request, pending the outcome of the petition for certiorari, the trial court stayed the discovery in <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u>.

The Fourth District rendered its decision on February 6, 2002, denying the petition for certiorari, without distinguishing in any manner the holding in *Rosen* from its decision in the instant case. *Friedman v HIPSL*, 806 So.2d 625, 626 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (*Friedman*)

Notice was filed, pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.120©), on February 28, 2002, seeking to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court, pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A). This Court has discretionary jurisdiction under Fla. R. App.

P.9.030(a)(3) and Article V, §3(b)(3),Fla. Const. On November 18, 2002, this Court issued an order accepting jurisdiction and setting oral argument.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case is one of first impression for this Court, addressing how a trial court should proceed on a motion to stay the proceedings of a contingent Florida Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ("FUFTA") claim (involving invasive discovery directed towards third parties), pending resolution of an underlying earlier-filed dispositive contract claim. There is a split among the lower courts on this matter, To resolve this conflict, Petitioner suggests that the Court reject the Fourth District's approach that would require the denial of all such stay motions. Instead, the Court should require an analysis that balances the various factors that a contingent FUFTA claim brings into play. Such a balancing is in line with the approach taken by the Third District in *Rosen v. Zoberg*, 680 So.2d 1050 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) (*Rosen*).

The opinion of the Fourth District below (*Friedman*) expressly and directly conflicts with the Third District's opinion in *Rosen*. Prior to *Friedman*, *Rosen* was the only appellate decision in Florida that addressed the proper handling of a motion to stay a FUFTA claim, pending the resolution of the underlying claim that determines if the claimant is a true creditor. In *Rosen*, the Third District found that it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny a motion to stay a later-filed contingent FUFTA claim ("*Rosen II*") while the underlying disputed claim between the parties ("*Rosen I*") remained unresolved:

Additionally, we hold that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Rosen's motions to stay *Rosen II*. The record demonstrates that resolution of *Rosen I* is dispositive of *Rosen II*. If Rosen does not prevail in *Rosen I*, she is not a creditor, and there is no basis for setting aside the transactions attacked in *Rosen II*. A stay is the proper vehicle to avoid a waste of judicial resources....On remand, the court shall enter an order staying this action pending resolution of *Rosen I*.

Id., 680 So. 2d at 1052 (citations omitted).

The Rosen court identified the likely waste of judicial resources if the stay were not granted and Rosen does not prevail as a creditor as the primary overriding issue tipping the balance in favor of the stay.

In the Friedman case below, the Fourth District was presented with a materially identical situation to that which the Third District faced in *Rosen*. Despite the similarities between *Friedman* and *Rosen*, the Fourth District, without any discussion of the waste of judicial resources analysis set forth in *Rosen*, reasoned that "a stay of the fraudulent transfer proceedings would preclude the trial court from granting relief under section 726.108 pending the outcome of the claim for damages." *Friedman*, at 627.

The Fourth District injected, on its own, this "remedy" issue into the case; it was neither briefed by either side, nor has any motion seeking section 726.108 relief prior to the resolution of *HIPSL-CONTRACT* ever been made in this case. By focusing solely on this "remedy" analysis, the Fourth District erred by ignoring the

waste of judicial resources issue identified in *Rosen*, and by failing to recognize that the FUFTA statute is supplemented by the established "principles of law and equity," (e.g., see, §726.111), and its implementation must conform with the Florida Constitution, including it's right to privacy. Article I, §23, Fla. Const. This Court has determined that constitutionally protected rights override the FUFTA provisions. *See, Havoco v. Hill*, 790 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 2001)

The Fourth's District's reasoning is so heavy handed that it will cause the automatic denial of any motion to stay a FUFTA claim, because the grant of any such stay motion would "preclude the trial court from granting relief under section 726.108 pending the outcome of the claim for damages." Under the Fourth District's decision, a trial court could not consider any of the many competing factors that should go against allowing a particular FUFTA claim to proceed, including a particular FUFTA claim's effects on constitutional rights, the waste of judicial resources, the likelihood that the contingent FUFTA claim's elements could not be proven, and/or the likelihood the underlying dispositive claim will fail. The Fourth District's reasoning provides a trial court no discretion.

A FUFTA claim suddenly makes relevant private financial information where such relevance would not have otherwise existed. Left with no safeguards, as the Fourth District's opinion requires, the FUFTA claim creates for an "unscrupulous litigant" a powerful and intimidating tool to injure other persons by obtaining constitutionally protected financial information from a Defendant, his/her friends, family and acquaintances – which would not have otherwise been available under this Court's normal privacy balancing test in the underlying case. An unscrupulous litigant can easily contrive a contingent FUFTA claim, as in the case below, and attempt to use its aggressive discovery as a sledgehammer to pressure a Defendant -- whose family and friends are under attack in the FUFTA litigation -- to settle the underlying case, no matter how frivolous both cases may be. The only, albeit ineffective, consolation the trial court in Friedman saw for such irreparable injuries was the possible awarding of attorney's fees.

Petitioner is not arguing herein that a stay of a FUFTA claim could never be denied or, if granted, never lifted, thus precluding a trial court from granting relief under the remedies set forth in section 726.108. However, because the legislature has allowed a creditor with an "unliquidated...contingent...unmatured" claim to bring a FUFTA claim, and because the mere allegation of such a claim automatically attaches to personal financial information a relevance that, but for the claim, would not exist, contingent FUFTA claims are open to abuse by unscrupulous litigants. To safeguard against such abuse, as in this case, a trial court should be required to analyze a motion for stay by performing a balancing of the many competing factors, including the effects on the constitutionally protected rights to privacy of the alleged debtor/transferor and, even more importantly, the alleged third party transferee. Where a stay is justified at one point in time but changes can be shown that alter that balance, a trial court can dissolve the stay when a requisite showing has been made to establish entitlement to a section 726.108 remedy.

As with *Rosen*, in the instant case, a balancing requires that <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u> be stayed pending resolution of <u>HIPSL-CONTRACT</u> in this case. No party would be prejudiced by the grant of such a stay. Petitioner respectfully requests this Court find an abuse of discretion by the trial court, and reverse the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion to stay <u>HIPSL-FUFTA</u>. In the alternative, Petitioner respectfully requests that the Court remand the issue to the trial court for holding a hearing conforming to the balancing test set forth herein.

#### ARGUMENT

The trial court failed to balance the interests of the parties and grant a motion for stay of a Florida Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (FUFTA) claim proceeding (including its invasive discovery of private financial information) brought by a speculating contingent creditor against a third party and the defendant, pending resolution of the underlying contract case which would have established the validity of the contingent creditor's dispositive claim.

#### 1. STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

The scope of the Florida Supreme Court's review of a decision of a Court of Appeal is limited when the grounds for accepting jurisdiction was a conflict with the decision of another appellate court on the same point of law. *See, South Fla. Hospital Corp. v McCrea*, 118 So.2d 25, 27 (Fla. 1960); *see also, Ansis v Thurston*, 101 So.2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958). In these circumstances, the Court will examine the pronouncements in the decisions and resolve the conflict. The question to be resolved is on the "point of law" that differs between the decisions, for which review is de novo.

In *Rosen*, the Third District found that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to stay proceedings for a contingent FUFTA claim, pending the final

outcome of the underlying dispositive claim because a failure to stay the FUFTA proceedings would waste judicial resources. In *Friedman* below, the Fourth District deviated from the *Rosen* approach, with no explanation as to why *Rosen*'s reasoning would not apply to the *Friedman* case. Without consideration of the argument concerning waste of judicial resources, and other competing factors, the Fourth District instead established its own broad-brush rule, and found no abuse of discretion by the trial court in denying Friedman's motion to stay the <u>HIPSL-</u> *FUFTA*. In *Friedman*, the Court ruled that a stay cannot be granted because it would preclude the trial court for considering the remedies provided in section 726.108. Had the Fourth District's analysis been applied to *Rosen* by the Third District, that court's decision would have come to the opposite result and the motion in that case would have been denied as well. Thus, there is clearly a conflict on the "point of law" that the two District Courts' require be applied by trial courts when they are confronted with a motion to stay a contingent FUFTA claim.

This Court has jurisdiction to review such conflicts and interpretations of state statutes. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

# 2. THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED IN FAILING TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE FLORIDA UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT IS SUPPLEMENTED BY FLORIDA PRINCIPLES OF LAW AND EQUITY, AND MUST OTHERWISE CONFORM TO THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, INCLUDING ITS RIGHT TO PRIVACY

The Florida Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, chapter 726.101 et. seq., (FUFTA) was developed from the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act, and must be applied in the context of Florida's constitution and other laws. *See, e.g.*, *Havoco v. Hill*, 790 So.2d 1018, 1029 (Fla. 2001) [Agreeing that the legislature, in enacting FUFTA, is powerless to affect the rights provided under the homestead exemption through statutory enactments; citing for the general principle: *Ostendorf v. Turner*, 426 So. 2d 539, 544 (Fla. 1982) (quoting *Sparkman v. State ex rel. Scott*, 58 So. 2d 431, 432 (Fla. 1952)) ("Express or implied provisions of the Constitution cannot be altered, contracted or enlarged by legislative enactments.")]

The FUFTA serves two primary purposes: 1) it defines for its purposes what transfers are fraudulent with regard to certain creditors, *see*, Section 726.102(3) and (2) provides certain remedies for some FUFTA-defined creditors with regards to the fraudulently transferred assets. *See*, Section 726.108. Even within its four corners, FUFTA provides that principles of equity and law should continue to

coexist with its terms, (*see, e.g.*, Sections 726.111 (which calls for the entire FUFTA to be supplemented by the principles of law and equity), and Section 726.708 (calling specifically for the remedies to be limited by various mitigating factors contained in Section 726.709, "attachment or other provisional remedy .....in accordance with applicable law," and "[s]ubject to applicable principles of equity and in accordance with applicable rules of civil procedure..").

The Fourth District erred in applying FUFTA's provisions without regard to the Florida constitution (including its right to privacy) and other principles of law and equity.

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