#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO: SC02-502** 

### KENNETH FRIEDMAN, M.D.,

Petitioner,

v.

### HEART INSTITUTE OF PORT ST. LUCIE, INC.,

a Florida Corporation;

### RAYTEL MEDICAL CORP.,

a Delaware Corporation;

and DAVID WERTHEIMER,

Respondents.

On Review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal CASE NO: 4D01-3526

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Fla. Bar No. 111480 Adam J. Lamb, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 899046 Doron Weiss, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 356920

HALL, DAVID AND JOSEPH, P.A. 1428 Brickell Avenue, Penthouse

Miami, Florida 33131

Andrew C. Hall, Esq.

Steven Navaretta, Esq. Fla. Bar. No. 182966

NAVARETTA & NAVARETTA, P.A.

1100 S.W. St. Lucie West Blvd., Suite 203

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In adopting the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ("UFTA"), the Florida Legislature recognized the need to protect a creditor from an insolvent debtor who, during or in anticipation of litigation, transferred assets to render himself judgment proof. In essence, the law realized that an insolvent debtor may attempt to engage in a variety of transfers of property (both initially and through subsequent transfers by the first transferee) and thereby prevent an ultimately successful litigant from collecting a judgment obtained prior to such transfers.

The overriding purpose of this aspect of the Florida Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ("FUFTA") is to permit a creditor to commence and prosecute an action to set aside a fraudulent transfer without having to wait until the end of the underlying case. Without this protection, creditors, including judgment creditors, would be easy targets at the hands of prospective judgment debtors who would have nothing to lose by engaging in fraudulent transfers.

For instance, without the interim remedies provided by the FUFTA, a creditor could bring a claim against a debtor, who in turn could transfer his assets to Party A. After receiving a judgment against the debtor, the creditor would then be forced to bring an action against Party A in order to recover on the judgment. While this subsequent litigation was pending, however, Party A could transfer the assets to Party

B, against whom the creditor would be forced to bring an action when his action against Party A reveals that Party A does not, in fact, possess any assets belonging to the original debtor. Under this scenario, there is potentially an infinite progression of asset transfers that a creditor must pursue in order to collect on a judgment that may have issued years earlier. The Legislature realized the utter unfairness of forcing a creditor to pursue a chain of asset transferees *ad infinitum* in an attempt to collect on a judgment, and provided for interim relief under the FUFTA in order to avoid scenarios as described above.

It is well settled that the FUFTA provides a creditors with remedies prior to the rendering of a final judgment. However, a creditor still must prove entitlement to these remedies by establishing the required elements as to any particular remedy. In order to demonstrate entitlement to a remedy it is necessary for a creditor to undertake discovery of the debtor, and the scope and control over such discovery is firmly vested in the discretion of the trial court. This procedural framework provides a creditor with a right to discovery while allowing the trial court to control unscrupulous litigants and protect the rights of debtors.

In light of this background, the crucial issues on appeal are the remedies available to a claimant under FUFTA and the means by which a claimant may pursue such remedies. The history underlying the UFTA and Florida law governing discovery

indicates that remedies available under the Act should be construed in favor of creditors and that Florida trial courts are fully capable of controlling discovery in fraudulent transfer actions in a manner which fully protects the rights of all parties.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for a trial court's denial of a motion for stay on appeal is abuse of discretion. *U.S. Borax v. Forster*, 764 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); *Hasslacher v. Hasslacher*, 664 So. 2d 993 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). Under this standard of review, the trial court's ruling should be upheld unless the ruling was arbitrary, fanciful or unreasonable and no reasonable trial judge would have so ruled. *Canakaris v. Canakaris*, 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980); *Oviedo v. Ventura Music Group*, 797 So. 2d 634 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001)(trial court has broad discretion to deny a motion for stay of proceedings); *Joya Industries, Inc. v. City of Hollywood*, 789 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001). If reasonable persons could differ as to the action taken by the trial court, then there can be no abuse of discretion. *Canakaris*, 382 So. 2d at 1203. For the reasons set forth herein, Friedman cannot meet this high standard and therefore the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

# II. HISTORY OF THE UNIFORM FRAUDULENT TRANSFER ACT

# A. The Purpose Of The Florida Uniform Transfer Act <u>Is To Protect Creditors</u>

The Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ("UFTA") was approved by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws in 1984 and has been adopted

by forty states, including Florida. *See*, 7A ULA 639, ULA Fraud Transf Refs & Annos (current through 2001). The UFTA is a revision of the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act (UFCA), 7A ULA 427 (1985), promulgated by the Commissioners in 1918, and was renamed in recognition of its applicability to transfers of personal property as well as real property. *See*, 26 Causes of Action 773, §2 (1991); Prefatory Note to ULA Fraud Transf Refs & Annos. The UFTA borrows from the Bankruptcy Code in an effort to make a uniform and predictable set of rules and to make state fraudulent transfer law correspond more closely to federal bankruptcy law. *See*, 26 Causes of Action 773, §2 (1991).

Recognizing that debtors will often try to avoid payment of legitimate debts by concealing or transferring property, the UFTA created a comprehensive framework designed to protect a debtor's assets from being depleted to the prejudice of creditors. See 26 Causes of Action 773, §2 (1991). See also Protocomm Corp. v. Novell Advances Services, Inc., 171 F. Supp. 2d 459 (E.D. Pa. 2001); In re Lease-A-Fleet, Inc., 155 B.R. 666 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1993). See generally, Protocomm, 171 F. Supp. 2d at 464 ("The purpose of fraudulent transfer law is to prevent a debtor from transferring valuable assets for inadequate consideration if such transfer leaves the debtor with insufficient assets to pay honest creditors"). The purpose of fraudulent transfer laws is to protect creditors, not debtors. See Weil v. Long Island Savings

Bank, FSB, 77 F. Supp. 2d 313 (E.D.N.Y. 1999); Gulf Insurance Co. v. Clark, 20P. 3d 780, 786 (Mont. 2001); Levy v. Markal Sales Corp., 724 N.E. 2d 1008 (Ill. App. Ct. 2000).

In enacting the UFTA, the Legislature rejected the public policy argument which questioned the efficiency of a creditor being permitted to sue on the underlying claim and a fraudulent transfer at the same time. The UFTA expressly permits a creditor without a judgment to challenge a debtor's transfer as fraudulent. See Gulf Insurance Co., 20 P. 3d at 786 (public policy arguments must be placed in the broader context of remedies available to creditors under fraudulent transfer law); Moore v. Browning, 50 P. 3d 852 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2002). This Court should view with disfavor public policy arguments which clearly misconstrue the underlying intent of a uniform act. See Gulf Insurance Co., 20 P. 3d at 786. To that extent, this Court should apply and construe the UFTA to effectuate its general purpose to make the law uniform in the states in which it has been enacted. See ULA Fraud Transf §11. See also, Fla. Stat. §726.112 ("Uniformity of application and construction"). Finally, in interpreting the UFTA the plain meaning of its terms controls. See Demis v. Eggbrecht, 191 B.R. 851 (Bankr. Mont. 1996).

# B. A Party Does Not Need To Obtain A Judgment In Order To Prosecute A Claim Under the UFTA

A major reform under the UFTA was the elimination of a requirement that a creditor obtain a judgment or unsatisfied execution prior to bringing an action to set aside a transfer as fraudulent. *See*, Prefatory Note to ULA Fraud Transf Refs & Annos (1998 Main Volume). Pursuant to the UFTA's explicit language, and the intent underlying its passage, the UFTA operates without regard to when a creditor obtains a judgment. *See*, *Sasco 1997 NI*, *LLC v. Zudkewich*, 767 A. 2d 469, 474 (N.J. 2001). Indeed, courts throughout the country have uniformly recognized that a party may bring a fraudulent transfer action in the absence of a judgment.<sup>2</sup> Highlighting the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., Gulf Insurance Co. v. Clark, 20 P. 3d 780 (Mont. 2001)(UFTA permits a diligent creditor to pursue its ancillary remedy before a judgment is entered); Tsiatsios v. Tsiatsios, 744 A. 2d 75, 80 (N.H. 1999)("The plain language of New Hampshire's Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act does not require that a judgment be entered against the transferor before action may be taken against the transferee"); Prescott v. Baker, 644 So. 2d 877 (Ala. 1994)(remedies under Alabama Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act may be available even though a creditor's claim has not been reduced to a judgment); Almon v. Byrd, 336 So. 2d 183 (Ala. 1976)(action to set aside conveyance as fraudulent may be brought even though claim has not yet been reduced to judgment); *Moore v. Browning*, 50 P. 3d 851 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2002)(creditor may bring a claim under UFTA without first having obtained a judgment); Cortez v. Vogt, 60 Cal. Rptr. 2d 841 (Cal. Ct. App. 1997)(UFTA permits a creditor to bring suit to set aside a fraudulent transfer before the claim has matured); *Intili v. DiGiorgio*, 693 A. 2d 573 (N.J. Super. Ct. Ch. Div. 1997)(UFTA permits a present or future creditor to seek a remedy prior to judgment); Protocomm Corp. v. Novell Advanced Services, Inc., 171 F. Supp. 2d 459 (E.D. Pa. 2001)(claim may be brought under Pennsylvania Uniform Fraudulent

vacuity of Friedman's position, there are no cases which hold that a court must automatically stay the underlying action every time that a fraudulent transfer claim is brought simultaneously with the underlying claim.

Florida also holds that a pre-existing judgment is not a requirement to the commencement of a fraudulent transfer action. *See, e.g., Varveris v. Alberto M. Carbonell, P.A.*, 773 So. 2d 1275, 1276 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000)(injunction under the

Conveyance Act by a party who has not yet received a judgment on a legal claim at the time of the transfer at issue); In re Fleet, 89 B.R. 420 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1988)(holder of a contingent claim which has not been reduced to judgment has standing to bring action under New Jersey Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act); Weisenburg v. Cragholm, 489 P. 2d 1126 (Cal. 1971)(creditor does not have to reduce claim to a judgment before seeking remedies under Uniform Fraudulent Conveyances Act); First Trust and Savings Bank of Glenview v. Zimmerman, 1987 WL 10302 (N.D. Ill. 1987)(creditor can bring an action to set aside a fraudulent conveyance prior to the underlying claim being reduced to judgment) Lebovitz v. Mudd, 358 S.E. 2d 698 (S.C. 1987)(finding that fraudulent conveyances claims were properly included in the complaint because the statute was not limited to judgment holders); United National Real Estate, Inc. v. C.F. Thompson, 941 S.W. 2d 58 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1996)(creditor may file bill to set aside transfer as fraudulent without first having obtained a judgment); *Emarine v*. Haley, 892 P. 2d 343)(Colo. Ct. App. 1994)(plaintiff could institute proceeding against debtor to set aside a transfer prior to having received a judgment against debtor); Kirkhart v. Saieed, 419 S.E. 2d 580 (N.C. Ct. App. 1992)(creditor is entitled to protection from fraudulent transfers even where a debtor transfers the assets prior to the creditor obtaining a judgment against the debtor); Nytco Leasing, Inc. v. Southeastern Motels, Inc., 252 S.E. 2d 826 (N.C. Ct. App. 1979)(creditor is entitled to attack transfer as fraudulent prior to the obtainment of a judgment); St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. State, Department of Natural Resources, Division of Forestry & Reclamation, 265 N.E. 2d 814 (Ohio Ct. Common Pleas 1970)(claimant may set aside conveyance as fraudulent even before the claim is reduced to judgment).

FUFTA can be entered before effectuation of personal service); *Cook v. Pompano Shopper, Inc.*, 582 So. 2d 37, 40 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); *Money v. Powell*, 139 So. 2d 702 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962)(Florida protects contingent creditors against fraudulent transfers as fully as holders of absolute claims). *Cf. Invo Florida, Inc. v. Somerset Venturer, Inc.*, 751 So. 2d 1263 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000)(contemplating that claims for breach of contract and fraudulent transfer would go forward in the same action). As explained above, one of the purposes behind permitting a party to pursue the underlying action and simultaneously seek to set aside a fraudulent transfer is to allow the holder of a judgment a better chance to satisfy it. *See, Intili v. DiGiorgio*, 693 A. 2d 573 (N.J. Super. Ct. Ch. Div. 1997).

In *Cook*, the plaintiffs filed suit for libel and negligence against the Pompano Shopper, Inc. (corporate owner of the Coral Springs News) and the author of two articles which appeared in the News containing allegations relating to plaintiffs' potential involvement with drugs after they were victims of a home invasion robbery. *Cook*, 582 So. 2d at 38. Plaintiffs amended their claim to add counts against the owners of Pompano Shopper for violations of Florida's Uniform Commercial Code–Bulk Transfers Act and the UFTA relating to the owners' sale of Pompano Shopper's assets. *Id.* at 39.

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the defendants holding

that the claim could not be maintained until judgment had been obtained on one of the underlying tort claims but the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed. *See id.* at 40. The court reasoned that a contingent claimant is entitled to the same degree of protection under the UFTA as the holder of an absolute claim and specifically noted that a "claim" under the Act may be brought even though it was contingent and not yet reduced to judgment. *See id.* 

In accordance with the intent underlying the FUFTA that creditors should be protected from the fraudulent machinations of debtors, the type of claim under which a party may bring a fraudulent transfer action is defined broadly. As defined in the FUFTA, a claim means "a right to payment, whether or not the right is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured, or unsecured." Fla. Stat. §726.102(3)(emphasis added). This definition evidences the Legislature's intent that Act's protections should apply a wide class of claimants, regardless of the nature and status of the underlying claim.

# C. The Florida Uniform Transfer Act Provides A Broad Range of Remedies To Creditors

In order to protect creditors as fully as possible while maintaining the rights of debtors, Florida law affords a myriad of remedies to a creditor seeking to set aside a

fraudulent transfer.<sup>3</sup> The plain language of Fla. Stat. §726.108 provides a trial court with a variety of interim remedies which may be used in preventing a debtor from transferring assets during the course of litigation, including the issuance of an injunction and the appointment of a receiver. *See, e.g., Tabet v. Tabet*, 644 So. 2d 557, 560 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994)(purpose of an injunction is to preserve the status quo

- (a) Avoidance of the transfer or obligation to the extent necessary to satisfy the creditor's claim;
- (b) An attachment or other provisional remedy against the asset transferred or other property of the transferee in accordance with applicable law;
- (c) Subject to the applicable principles of equity and in accordance with the applicable rules of civil procedure:
  - 1. An injunction against further disposition by the debtor or a transferee, or both, of the asset transferred or of other property;
  - 2. Appointment of a receiver to take charge of the asset transferred or of other property of the transferee; or
  - 3. Any other relief the circumstances may require.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Fla. Stat. §726.108(1) provides that:

<sup>(1)</sup> In an action for relief against a transfer or obligation under ss. 726.101-726.112, a creditor, subject to the limitations in s. 726.109 may obtain:

in order to prevent the occurrence of irreparable harm before a dispute is resolved). Because the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, the interim remedies the Legislature provided must be given effect when a creditor seeks the relief afforded by the statute. *See City of Miami Beach v. Galbut*, 626 So. 2d 192, 193 (Fla. 1993)("A statute's plain and ordinary meaning must be given effect unless to do so would lead to an unreasonable or ridiculous result"); *Saunders v. Saunders*, 796 So. 2d 1253, 1254 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001)(where statutory language is clear and unambiguous the only construction necessary is to give effect to the plain meaning of its words).

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